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INRE:"

as Parents in behalf of .

Student PETITIONERS
VS. NO. H-10.1 0
RESPONDENTS

HEARIN G OFFICER’S FINAIL DECISION AND ORDER
Issue ang Statement of the Cage
Issues:

Did the Respondents deny the Student a free and appropriate public education (FAPE)

according to the Individya]s with Disabiljtieg Education A ct (IDEA) by failing to follow due procesg

enviroﬁment and by failing to identify and evaluate for the Student’s disabilities that were adversely

affecting hey education for school years 2006-07: 2007-08; and part of schoo] year 2008-09 in the

F 147 M 3 L1
~ (hereinafter referreg to as “Parents”), the parents o

(Petitioner) (hereinafter referred to ag “Student”). The Parents requested the hearing because they
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believe that the ereinafter referred to a5 “HSS District”) and

subsequently the-hereinaﬁer referred to as “FL§ District”) failed to

comply with the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 US.C. §§ 1400 - 1485, as

amended) (IDEA) (also referred to as the “Act” and “Public Law 108-446") and the regulations sét
forth by the Department according to Arkansas Code Annotated 6-41-202 through 6-41-223 in
providing the Student with appropriate special education services as noted above in the issue as
stated.

The Department responded to the Parent’s request by designating November 35,2009, as the
date on which the hearing would be held and by assigning the case to an impartial hearing officer.
The Hearing Officer issued an order on October 9, 2009, setting preliminary timelines which

afforded the Districts with the Opportunity to challenge the sufficiency of the due process complaint

agreements were reached,
On October 15, 2009 the HSS District challenged the sufficiency of the complaint and the
Hearing Officer concutred. An order was issued on October 2 1, 2009 permitting the Petitioner to

amenql.;the due process complaint in accordance with §§8 ©)(e)E) of § 615 of Public Law 105-17,
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informed the Parents that the alleged complaints against the privately owned and/or the non-profit
agencies listed in the complaint were not under the jurisdiction of the Department and therefore
could I{Ot be adjudicated by the Hearing Officer.

The Parents responded to the order by submitting an amended complaint on October 30,
2009. On receipt of the amended complaint a second order setting preliminary timelines was issued
on October 31, 2009; which again afforded both districts the opportunity to challenge the
sufficiency of the amended complaint. The amended order setting preliminary timelines again
included an order for the both districts to convene resolytion sessions with the Parents on or before
November 14, 2009. The HSS District and the FLS District notified the hearing Officer that
resolution conferences were held; but again, no agreements were reached.

‘The HSS District responded to the amended complaint with a challenge as to its sufficiency
on November 9, 2009. Having not been named in the challenge nor the response to the challenge,
the FLS District filed a motion to adopt the responses to the complaint by the HSS District on
November 10, 2009. An order was issued by the Hearing Officer on November 10, 2009 denying
the cﬁ.a.llenge of sufficiency by the HSS District and established a pre-hearing conference to be
condﬁcted on November 19, 2009. The pre-hearing conference was held as planned with the issue

as noté_d above being agreed to as that which would be adjudicated beginning on November 30,

_' Y Following the admission of testimony and evidence at the hearing -the

Petitigﬁ?i’l‘ ser requested and was granted multiple continuances in order to complete that case. Cage

S|
[ |

‘nd the current case were continued by written orders to be heard following the completion

Case
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h however, it too was continued due to the need for all parties

to obtain testimony and present evidence, Thus the current case, scheduled to be heard following

R . - N  : -

On-the initial day of the hearing the HSS District repeated their request that the Hearing
Officer accept as part of the record the HSS District’s motion to dismiss as was eﬁtered-

» | in that the same issues applied according to the

HSS Bistrict, with the exception of the assertion of the Student having reached the age of majority

_ At the same time the FLS District filed a verbal motion to adopt the motion

to dis;ﬁisfs 85 requested by the HSS District,

residﬁflilgtsf of the HSS District; and (3) the Student is being home-schooled. The motions were
hate '

accepled, but the motions to dismiss were denied.
i

"'The opinion of the Hearing Officer on denying the motions to dismiss was as follows:

(1). With regard to the complaints having exceeded the constraints of the statyte of
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limitations ag established by the 2004 re-authorization of the IDEA, the HSS District is correct, but

only in part. The two year statute of limitations ag established by the IDEA stateg that a parent or
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they l;tqheved that the facts presented to them at the time were misrepresentations by the HSS
Dlstrlct and that information re garding the lack of academic standing with the Department to the
program to which they believed the HSS District transferred the Student to was withheld. During
the cqurse of the hearing the testimony elicited from the witnesses by the Parents would lead the
reader of the transcript to believe that the Parents believed they were misled in making decisions
to “home school” the Student by the HSS District, and subsequently by the FLS District, as well as
being mislead by the non-accredited private agency who was involved in the education of their
child. However, nothing in the evidence or testimony indicated that the HSS District or the FLS
District i‘ﬁtentionally misrepresented anything to the Parents; however, the failure to adequately
inform them, and given the intellectual limits of the Parents, it is relatively €asy to conclude from
the testimony that such might in fact be the case as they saw it,

Also on the initial day of the hearing a discussion was held on the record between council
for the HSS District, council for the Parents, and the Hearing Officer regarding the use of a
Department Investigation of the HSS District’s alternative learning environment (ALE) called Vista,
The document was not disclosed within the required five-day time frame for it to be included as
evidehc;e; but was referred to as a comparative example by council for the Parents as to ; 1ssues within
the ﬁndlngs of the investigation and those encountered by the Student in the same time frame of her
placement inthe ALE. Council for the Parents was permitted to ask questions of the witnesses on
1ssues raised in the investigation; however, the document was not entered into the record as
ev1detlmie

As noted below under the findings of fact the temporary IEP for school year 2006-07 may

or may not have been comparable to the special education services she had been receiving from the
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previous district, Consequently, if such facts as were used to provide special education services

exception would swallow the rule. In hindsight, the Parents might consider the HSS District’s
initial assessment and placement of the Student to be inadequate, but that does not in and of itself

rise té a specific misrepresentation. However, it is the opinion of this Hearing Officer that dye

(2). At the time the complaints were alleged to have begun the Student was 3 resident of
the HSS District and ag such the responsibility of the HSS District for purposes of providing an
appropriate education. Although the District denjes responsibility for the time in which the Student
was withdrawn and placed in a private school setting to be home-schooled, the courts have
consistently agreed that studentg who, as in this case, claim a district violated the IDEA by denying

a student.ofan appropriate education in the least restrictive environment, thus forcing the unilateral

3). As recorded on the record and in their post-hearing brief the HSS District is correct in

il

citi‘ng“{regulations which bar parents and students from the benefits of due process concerning

special education matters when they have unilaterally removed the student from the public
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educaltion agency. There is no dispute that the Parents removed the Student twice from enrollment
inthe HSS District and subsequently once from the F LS District for purposes of “home-schooling,”
but why and how those decisions were reached, are part and partlal of their complaints, thus the
testlmeny and ewdence surrounding the complaints were deemed to be hearable.

The hearing began ag scheduled on February 19, 2010. The Parents were not able to
complete their desired testimony and requested continuances which were granted without objection
for the case to be heard on February, 25, 2010; again on March 9, 2010; again on April 15, 2010;
anda ﬁnal day on April 21, 2010, On the second day of the hearing the FLS District requested and
was gra.nted without objection that the case be bifurcated in order to allow them to be absent from
issues pertaining only to the [{SS District. Although the hearing of testimony was bifurcated this

dec1smn and order has not been, Following the final day of the hearing all parties were offered the

They were instructed that their briefs must be received within ten business days from the final date
of the hearlng However, council for the Petitioners and council for the HSS District requested and
were granted without objection that their post-hearing briefs be continued due to personal issues
1nterfer1ng with preparation of the briefs. All post- hearing briefs with the exception of the HSS
Distriot” s, which was never recelved were provided to the Hearing Officer on or before the
subsequently established deadline and are included ag Hearing Officer exhibits,

Havmg been given jurisdiction and authority to conduct the hearing pursuant to Pubhc Law
108»4146 a8 amended and Arkansas Code Annotated 6-41-202 through 6-41-223, Robert B. Doyle,
Ph.D. Hearmg Officer of Sherwood, Arkansas, conducted a closed impartial hearing. The Parents

were tepresented by Theresa Caldwel], Attorney of Little Rock, Arkansas; the HSS District was
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represéﬂ@ed by Paul Blume, Attorney of Little Rock, Arkansas; and the LS District was represented

by Jay:Béquette, Attorney of Little Rock, Arkansas,

5 At the time of the alleged complaints were purported to have begun (school year 2006-07)

the Student was-vho had transferred to the HSS District as an IDEA
—On being notified by the Parents in the enroliment procedures, the FSg

District réquested and received copies of the Student’s special education records from the schoo}
distri=0— The Student and the Parengs remained residents of the HSS District unti] they
moved théir residence into the adjoining FLS District in December 2008 and subsequently requested
special ‘education services at the FLS District for school year (2009-10).
Findings of Fact:
School Year 2006-07

As pointed oyt by the HSS District iﬁ their motion to dismiss, and the FLS District’s motion
to adopt, complaints which were alleged to have occurred during school year 2006-07 fall outside
the statute of limitationg according o the re-authorization of IDEA in 2004 for which complaints
can be -ﬁied, and thus it is often assumed they are not hearable by a héaring officer. However,
neith‘ef_the provisions of the IDEA as re-authorized in 2004, nor the regulations interpreting the

statutg, qutline precisely how a hearing officer must consider a claim where the exceptions to the

i
o

i

‘S‘F' " . .
statut@qg‘i’jlimitations may apply; nor how to addresg the importance of any prior actions on the part
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':Piior to entering the HSS District the Student’s school in-eveloped an IEP for

school, yéa.r 2006-07 anticipating that

qualified for special education services having average or above average intellectyg) poteritial;
however,‘ she demonstrated a significant discrepancy between her ability and achievement in basic
reading skills, reading comprehension, written expression, and mathematics calculation,
Addiﬁén}ﬂly she demonstrated a chronic processing deficit, intrinsie, across settings in

autométicity/speed and conceptualization,> Her [pp also noted that she struggled with low gelf.

T Evan H v Unionville-C‘hadds Ford School District, 51 IDELR 157 (E.D. Pa 2008)

* Parent Binder, Page 180




notcd’ﬁt{h@”t she continued to struggle with low self-esteem and social skills, as wel] ag appearing to

 3 Parent Binder, Page 159
“ Ibid, Page 160

’ Ibid, Page 192
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obtained: from the Parents. No information wags Systematically gathered nor were behaviora)

assessmgms provided by the Student’ classroom teachers. The examiner testified that she used the

iy
-

i
§ Ibid, Page 51.61

" Transcript, Vol L, Page 179-180; 187 ang 202

* Parent Binder, Page 110
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it wag 'clietermined she exhibited specific learning disabilities in reading, math, and written

language. She also completed her evaluation without the benefit of a social history or speech and

3 ‘Transcript, Vol I, Page 204

" Parent Binder, Page 139-142




' Ibid, Page 103-104

% Ibid, Page 44

? Tbid, Page 100.19
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exammaﬂlon following which they would have a hearing consultant help with her programming.

There was no record of evidence to indicate that an audiological examination was conducted and
no reeor’c:i ;)f any change in the Student’s IEP as the result of such an examination.

A:pparenﬂy, the Student continued to have behavior difficulties in that another separate
programﬁmg conference was requested by her classroom teacher on F ebruary 22, 2007, because
the Student was “at risk for failing at school” and that the IEP team needed to “help her become
more su#l:essful atschool.”™ Againno other options suchasa psychological or behavmral analysis
being, comducted to ascertain how her behaviors were adversely affecting her academic progress,
No change in her IEP was the decision reached by her IEP team because prior to the meeting she
had i 1mprpved ber grade from an “F” to a “C-“ and her classroom behavior had improved by the time
the conference was conducted six days later on March 1, 2007.'6

Pnor to the first call by her classroom teacher in October for a separate programming
conference the Student was evaluated by a psychiatrist at Community Counseling Services (CCS).
His d1agn0515 at that time was oppositional defiant disorder and a hearing loss.”” Somewhat
contrary t‘o the FISS District’s assessment, he judged her strengths to be “motivation, [her] support

system, _i;ntellect, and physical health;” he judged her weaknesses to be “judgment/insight,

hygieneffgrooming, and daily living skills;” and he further indicated that barriers to her treatment

14 Tbid, Page 95-96
5. Ibid, Page 90-91
' Ibid, Page 87-88

" Ibid, Page 698




|
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were ¥ Tianmal un-cooperative, and hearing i mmpairment.”® His assessment indicated that she
“often Io$ses temper casily frustrated; very argumentative; defiant to directives; requests; and rules;

annoys others, can be spiteful by lying on others who makes her mad.”™ His report of the family’s
! l

current envn‘onment and living situation included the following statement:
’i’arent and family moved here four months ago. All children having problermns with
aéijustrnent to moving away frorx‘arents been married 15 years, marriage is
sfable. Family is having some grief and loss issues; beloved grandfather passed
aWay 2 years ago; close friend of family died recently (Apnl 2006). Also, paternal
grandmother 15 very angry at the family for moving and has been verbaﬂy abusive
toward the children by verbally rejecting them due to the parents decision to
move,”” |
One month later the psychiatrist removed the diagnosis of a hearing impairment, but
mainta-i,néd a diagnosis of oppositional defiant disorder.* On March 1, 2006, the same date the
second SGParate programming conference was conducted as noted above, the psychiatrist provided

an asscssment ofthe Student’s pro gress in treatment provided by CCS. He noted that she had made

very httle progress with decreasing the frequency of defiant interactions with adults and that she

| ‘F’ Toid
1 ' Tbid, Page 696
2"! Ibid, Page 693

2! Ibid, Page 686
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i I
r-u

of her tea)r(;hers and she had to go to a BIC room due to disrespecting her teacher 2

As previously noted the Student’s IEP for school year 2006-07 did not include counseling
services,, but the evidence presented indicated that she received both individual and group
psychotherapy services by a school-based counselor from CCS beginning in October 2006. Ag
noted above the working diagnosis for the therapy was oppositional defiant disorder. Progress notes
and psychiatric assessments provided as evidence indicated that by the end of school year 2006.- 07,
her glob:l.tl assessment of functioning had not changed since beginning therapy suggesting no
1mpr0vement in her emotional or behavioral functioning as a result of therapeutic interventions.
The HSS District personnel were aware of her emotional and behavxoral status as reflected in the
progress notes In April 2007 her therapist noted that she had “met with [the Student’ 8] teacher at
the [school] regarding [the Student’ s] progress and issues of concern...the coach reported that [the
Student] was very defiant and disrespectful to him this week and in class .she refuses to participate
in the exercise program..she was disrespectful in refusing to talk with him abouyt why she s refusing
to part101pate also, he added that another peer whom [she] talks to all the time also refused to do
her exerclses as well.”®

Towards the end of school year 2006-07 her therapist reported that she “met with [the]
couuselor at the [school] for report on [the Student s] conduct...she reported that [the Student]
contmues to be non-responsive to adults, but she is doing better in that she will do her work more
for hei*i .[&tlchers -counselor also shared that fthe Student] got beat up by a boy on the bus the other

s
I

? Ibid, Page 682-683

% Ibid, Page 594
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day."® "I[hese records reflect that the HSS District was well aware of the emotional and behayioral
dlfﬁculufa_s that the Student was experiencing in the school environment; however, the information
did not tliifgger aresponse from the HSS District that there existed the possibility that such acting
out bchzmors might warrant the development of a behavioral intervention plan to be included as a
part of th;e Student’s IEP

Ijgesplte the emotional and behavioral issues the Student faced during school year 2006-07
her grade%s at the end of the year included no failing grades in any subject area, with a satisfactory
rating in ;conduct She was tardy only two days and absent only twelve and a half days.® Thug
even w1th the failures on the part ofthe HSS District to provide a comparable IEP when the Student
entered thelr district and the failure of the educational examiner to appropriately evaluate for her
learning Hisabilities, or provide a more complete examination to determine the potential existence
an emotipna.l or behavioral disorder, the Student was able to succeed academically in a regular
education with less than fifty percent of her day in a resource room, contrary to what was proposed
by the pfevious school district, Could she have made more progress if a more appropriate
eva.luatiq‘n ofher learning disabilities or a comprehensive assessment of her behavior and emotional
issues be;in completed is an unanswerable question. The same holds true for how the development
and 1mp1ementat10n of a behavioral intervention plan may have been helpful in decreasmg some of
the oppo‘;iltlonal defiant behaviors in the regular education classroom. How those procedural

fa11ures c)n the part of the HSS District, and the subsequent decisions made by both the Parents and

the HSS Dzstrlct would impact the Student’s next school year, is found in the following findings

i ‘
* Ibid, Page 592

2 Ibid, Page 736
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3

of fact, 5

l
- School Year 2007-08

: 'Fhe Student’s IEP annual review for school year 2007-08 was not held prior to the beginning

of the school year, in fact not until October 2,2007. No explanation in testimony was presented as
|

to why such along delay. The notice of the conference was sent to the Parents after school had
started: on September 21,2007, stating that one action item for the IEP team would be consideration
of extenqled school year services, even though the summer months for such services had already
passed. 26 The conference decision developed at the meeting noted that “extended school year
services yvere discussed, 14 factors reviewed and the committee determined services are not
necessarj:z at this time.” The decision also noted that the Student continued to have difficulty in
reading, language arts and math, being approximately four years behind her peers in those areas,
even though the only learning disability continued to be in numerical operations. When the Student
began recemng services in the HSS District in 2006 she was only two years behind her peers in the
same- academxc areas. 'The decision noted that the Parents were making an appointment with a
phys:clan for the Student because of hearing problems and a problem with her feet. The Parents
also’ reported to the IEP team that they intended to have the Student tested for dyslexia,

The subsequent IEP that was developed indicated that she would continue to receive 750
mmutes weekly of specialized instruction in math, reading, and language arts in a resource room
settmg Even though her previous regular education classroom teacher requested IEP conferences

duetd the Student’s behavior and even though the HSS District personnel knew she was being seen

in 1nd1v1dual and group therapy for emotional and behavioral issues, her IEP team did not consider

® Ibid, Page 84
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additiﬁhzijf behavior assessments and did not include counseling as a related service, They in fact
confinu'eél to note that she could follow the HSS District’s discipline policies.”

A‘flthough her IEP did not reflect the need for counseling services the Student continued to
receive school-based counseling by CCS for school year 2007-08. Her diagnosis for therapy
remainedf mth the CCS records indicating that she would be receiving
her coﬁné;eling onthe HSS District middle school campus,® The Justification for continuing therapy
services was listed as aggressive behaviors, the likelihood of decompensation, and the need for
contin,t;ieél efforts to involve the family, According to the records from CCS she received both

individual and group therapy while attending classes at the LSS District middle school; however,

7 Ibid, Page 20.29
% Ibid, Page 669-6772

» Ibid, Page 663
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200736’ ffhe Student’s mother testified that in her opinion the Student’s defiant behavior wag a
result dlf ot being able to hear and understand her teachers and not knowing what was expected of
her in olass Since enrolling the Student in the HSS District the Parents advocated for a smaller
classroom setting such as the one the Student was assigned to"She testified
that T:he middle school counselor for the HSS District informed her that such a class, as the self-
contalried class in the HSS District, “would not work ...because the kids are all handicapped”
nnplylng that the overall level of intellectual functioning of the others in the class was much lower
than that ;of the Student,’!

'T:here Wwas no testimony to ascertain with certainty as to how involved the HSS District
personnel were or how much influence the Student’s CCS psychiatrist and 'therapist had in the
decision of transferring the Student from the HSS District to the non-accredited educational
prograin at CCS Excel. The evidence presented 1nd1cates that on November 15, 2007 the Student’s
tlwrapxist informed the Student that she would “have to talk to her Mother about placing her in the
EXCEL program to help her prepare for high school.. Jadvising] her this is not punishment, but to
help hér in the future” further stating that the Student “understood and thinks she would like to be
inthe EXCEL program.” On that same date she recorded a progress note in which she stated that
she met with the Student’s mother to gain information about the Student’s academic and behavior.
Her note states that: “Mother stated that [the Student] was having difficulty with her grades and she

!
\

does nd)t want her to have the same problems as her oldest son. She stated that her oldest son had

* Transeript, Vol I, Page 197
*' Ibid, Vol II, Page 202

* Parent Binder, Page 584
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anger #ﬂdblems because he wag frustrated in the classroom and was not getting the help he needed

emotionally disturbed (SED) certification that in addition to the need for continued care being
related to the Student’s aggressive behaviors and likelihood of decompensation, that she also
presented with liability of mood, suggesting a possible bipolar disorder or an adjustment disorder

with beth anxiety and depressive features,

program was known by ai] involved, with the exception of the Parents at the time, that it was a non-
éccredited educational program, The policy and procedures manual the Parents signed that they had
received and understood, contains information that would lead any reader to assume that they would
be providing the Student with, special education services according to the Department and IDEA
standards in a; small therapeutic environment which would also address her psychological and
behavioral problems. s

Jf’Ifhe Parents were required by CCS Excel to issue the HSS District a notice of intent to home
[ )

' Ibid, Page 580
* Ibid, Page 665

* Ibid, Page 723-731
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schoolﬁthe Student, even though the Parent did not intend to provide any academic assistance to the
Student The notice to the HSS District was not completed by the Parents, and in testlmony it was

unclear as to whether assistance in completing the form was provided by CCS or HSS District

persotimel. Nonetheless, the notice states in handwriting, not that of the Parents, that the Student

reﬂects the AR Frameworks guidelines and includes the following subjects: English, ertmg Skills,
Readmg, Social Studies, Math, Science, P.E. , and Life Skills” and that “a} information wil] be
presented at the Student $ academic function level.” Their program continues on to state that their
program is designed to meet not only the mental health needs, but the educational needs ofthe child
and that in order to be enrolled in their program the child must be diagnosed with a serious
emotional disturbance. No where in the policy and procedures manual does the agency inform the
Parents or prospective client that they will not be receiving an education in an approved progr'(;m
and that they will not be receiving credits that can be applied towards graduating from high school
with a dlploma According to the evidence CCS Excel indicated to the Student and the Parents that
she her educational goal would be a “general diploma.” None of the evidence nor any of the
testimony even suggested that the HSS District informed the Parents or the Student that the CCS
Excel }é’ro gram was not an approved educational program and that if she continued with the program
that Shﬁ would not be receiving a diploma.

In transferring to the CCS Excel program the Student’s therapist changed in that the school-

based ﬁheraplst could not follow her in the Excel program; however, her psychiatrist remained the

* HSS District Binder, Page 331

"7 Parent Binder, Page 707




% Parent Binder, Pages 660.6¢>

* Ibid, Page 554
“ Ibid, Page 533
* Ibid, Page 517

2 Ibid, Page 513
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happy, smiling and laughing 4 Another week later she records that she explored the relationships
within:her family and that she continued to “talk aboyt her brothers in a positive way, sharing how

“happy’ they both make her..she described one brother as a peace-maker in the family and her

described the latter brother ag ‘happier now’ and shared that her family is ‘happier too.”™ Ope
week following this note she wrote that the Student “wag dysregulated today, cursing a teacher,

refusing to do work, and running up and down hallways, ™

On March 24, 2008 hey psychiatrist added-along with
the—as her treating diagnoses, He also added-and-

-S medical disorders. He attributed no change to her global assessment of functioning

and prescribed -46 Herbehavior apparently improved in that between

March.24, 2008 and April 14, 2008 no incidents similar to those noted above were recorded. On
that date her psychiatrist removed the diagnosis o_ut continued to uge
the others as treating diagnoses.*’ The next day, however, her therapist recorded that the Student
refused to participate in group, stating that the Student’s “social anxiety continues to be a barrier,”*

Six days later on April 21, 2008, she recorded that she met with the Student and her Parents

# Ibid, Page 507
;!'44 Ibid, Page 505
% Ibid, Page 503
“ Ibid, Page 497
7 Ibid, Page 476

“ Ibid, Page 473




H-lO-}(O (Final Decision and Order) Page 26

“disrcsfpected [the] staff by cursing at her.” The same therapist suspended the Student from the

Program and sent a letter to the Parents the next day stating that “your child has been suspended

of the Program therapists to discyss your child’s future at Excel.” She apparently was allowed to
continue the Excel program with the psychiatrist again on April 24, 2008, diagnosing her with both

oppesitional defiant disorder and ADHD, with no change in her global leve] of functioning Oy

May 5, 2008, he changed her ADHD medication fro |
‘She completed schoo] year2007-08 at the CCS Excel program with all “A’s” in ali academic
areas (Language Arts, Reading, Math & Social Studies), with the exception of Science which was

marked “N/A.”» Contrary to the classroom behavior ag noted above her classroom teacher wrote on

are inconsistent with g “psychological evaluation” administered by a licensed professional

counselor, who administered g non-approved intelligence test by the Department, where she

' Ibid, Page 469-470
9 Ihid, Page 460
1 Ibid, Page 453

* Ibid, Page 732
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achi‘evéd a Verbal Index Standard Score of 66; a Performance Index Standard Score of 70; and a
Memo;*y Index Standard Score of 30; which yielded a Full Range Intelligence Quotient of 61 53 His
results were significantly lower than that obtained by the HSS District examiner where she obtained
a Full Scale 1Q of 74.% Her therapist misinterpreted the counselor’s test results as the Student
achwvmg a “Standard Score [0f] 71 which suggests Borderline Intellectual Functioning,

‘She continued to remain in the CCS day treatment program through the summer between
the 2007-08 and the 2008-09 school year, The record reflects that she participated in the summer
actwmes with the same degree of defiance and moodiness as she had during the school year which
resulted in an increase in her ADHD medication and subsequently another change from Adderall
XR to Strattera on July 28, 2008.% The therapist reported that in g meeting with the Parents on July
21,2008, that they “expressed satisfaction with [the] program and feel [the Student] would benefit
from another school year in the program,”™’

School Year 2008-09
The CCS Excel program’s name was changed to Turning Points; however, the program
continued to be a non-accredited educational program according to the Department. Thejr policy

and procedures manual continued to advertise that théy were not an “ordinary school” and that they

provided a treatment setting where all students are valued and given an opportunity to resolve the

5'553 Ibid, Page 481
** Ibid, Page 128
> Ibid, Page 481
% Ibid, Page 374

5 Ibid, Page 409
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problems facing them. They continued to advertise that special education students would receive
all services as required by federal law and that their educationa] program would follow the standards
establlghed by the Department for alternative learning environments, with certified teachers and
with at least one certified teacher in special education. This information was testified to as
knovwngly being false by al] of the HSS District personnel responsible for dealing with parents and
students from the district who have been or might be considering the program as an alternative
placemcnt

On returning to school in August 2008, the Student began by returning to the CCS Turning
Points (Excel) Program. By this point in time the Student had not been a student within the HSS
District since October of the previous school year. Since the Parents intended to keep the Student
in the CCS Turning Points (Excel) program they met with a social worker from the program on
August 22, 2008, to discuss registration and goals for the Student in the coming school year. The
Student’s mother reported to the social worker that “she has seen progress [for the Student] in more

cooperative and calmer behavior since [the medicine] change.”® Three days later the CCS

psychiatrist signed off on her treatment plan using the same diagnoses oi—nC‘
“s well as,_and -At the same time the record showed

that there was no change in the Student’s global assessment of functioning, indicating no
improvement in her ability to function since the Student entered their program nine months earljer,®
On September 12, 2008, the same licensed counselor who measured the Student’s 1Q

adnnmstered the Wide Range Achievement Test; however; no data wag produced in the record to

* Ibid, Page 354

% Ibid, Page 352
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addres% any differences between previous data collected by the HSS District and a current
assessri'lent. Accordiﬁg to the therapy records provided as evidence, the Student’s behavior
remainjéd unchanged from where she left off the previous school year with defiance towards the
teachezis, counselors, therapists and difficulties in relating to other students. On September 26,

2008, one of her counselors at the Turning Points program stated that he was “requested to come

comply with program ryleg, 6 On that same day a school suspension notice was sent to the Parents
informing them that the Studen had been suspended.©!

Three days later on September 29, 2008, the same therapist met with the Parents and the
Student to discuss “continuing behaviora] problems and [the Student’s] educational needs” and that
“their \%:vas a consensus that her educational needs were not being met [in the CCS Turning Points
(Excelj; program] because of her refysa] todo the schoolwork she was assigned.” This assessment
Was quite contrary to the report she received at the end of the previous school year where she

achieved all “A’s” in her academic subjects and was praised by her teacher for having worked hard

wondered if it would not be best for [the Student] to return to public school with an [EP” and that

‘pros amd cons were discussed and evaluated and fthe] parent’s decided they would re-enrol} [the

* Ibid, Page 316
* Ibid, Page 315

2 Ibid, Page 313




H-IO--I;Q (Final Decision and Order) . Page 30
Studei.it] in [the] HS Middle School 3

The HSS District completed a referral form for the Student to return to their middle school
on October 2, 2008; however, the date of actual return was September 30, 2008, the day after their
meeting with the Turning Points counselor. The educational examination data to be used at the
referral conference was to be the same information that the HSS District used prior to her leaving
their district the previous yearto attend the CCS Excel program. The psychoeducational evatuation
they depended on was completed when the Student was entering the fifth grade and she was now
entering the seventh grade. The determination of an existing specific learning disability was gaged
against achievement data collected from the previous school district in Illinois when she was in the
fourth grade, where she was determined to have learning disabilities in math, reading, and written
expression.  As noted above the HSS District evaluator found only a disability in numerical
operations, yet her IEP continued to indicate the provision of specialized instruction in all three
areas. The referral form for her seventh grade year noted that her strengths were in written
expression Ei.nd reading, even though the HSS District had found through achievement testing that
she was four years behind i both. The referral form does not mention the Student’s behavioral or
psychological issues that led to the dismissal from the CCS Turning Points day treatment program
and retumn to the public school.

The referral conference was conducted on October 9, 2008, with a check mark by the
statemént that no evaluation was needed. ™ The conference decision noted that the IEP developed

by the HSS District the prevmus year had expired and that the committee needed to develop a new

% Ibid

* Ibid, Page 74
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IEP. ank:l that the Parents believed that a medication change was needed %

F ollowing the previously developed IEP the Student would be assi igned to aregular seventh
grade classroom and attend resource classes for specialized instruction in math, reading, and written
expresSmn for 750 minutes per week and counseling twice weekly for a total of 60 minutes. Her
newly ass:gned school based counselor (an employee of the CCS pro gram she had just be suspended
from) recorded her first note on October 6, 2008, which stated that the Student “was reportedly
struggling to adjust to transition without her medication” and that she would “monitor and
coordinate with [the Student’s] treatment team, [the Student], family, and school staff to further
assess [the Student’s] current statys and coping and to establish a treatment plan for the new setting
s appropriate.”® On that same day the Student apparently was “marched to the Principal’s office”
because she ‘was reportedly refusing to go to class and staff were at a loss on how to manage her.”
The Student was also informed on that same day that the CCS Turning Points Program “can no
longer meet her needs and that [her] previous treatment team/parents had agreed that her academic
needs would be better suited at public school” and that an “IEP is scheduled for this Thursday.”
The therapist also recorded on the same day that she had met with the HS Middle School counselor
“to Mer assess client options/assist in process of transitioning [sic][the Student] as able.” She
went on to record that she gathered the Student’s history, coping and status prior to transferring to
HS middle school and clarified with the HS middle school counselor that the Student can not return

to thef?ffurning Points day treatment program. She recorded that the Student refused to “accompany

% Ibid, Page 72
5 Ibid, Page 311

* Ibid, Page 309
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IEP/school program coordinator” on a tour of the resource classroom. She further suggested the
| .

possib{lity of placement in a residential setting versus the HSS District’s therapeutic ALE program.
She diéfcussed with the Parents about issuing a family in need of services (FINS) with the County
Courts for additional support.®® It appeared from the evidence that all persons involved in the
education and mental health treatment of the Student were at a [oss as what to do for her. There was
no record entered as evidence or testimony given that suggested that a comprehensive evaluation
be completed prior to going any further.

The HSS District conducted a Separate programming conference on October 16, 2008 at
which time it was decided that the Student would be transferred to the HSS District’s alternative
- leaming environment (Vista). The decision also noted that the Student’s psychiatrist had changed
her ADHD medication from Strattera to Concerta.”’ No additional evaluations were suggested or
performed, nor was any classroom data collected between the time the Student enrolled on
September 30, 2008 and when the decision for her to be transferred to the Vista program was made
on October 16, 2008, -

- On October 16, 2008 her therapist noted that she‘ believed the Student would fare better in
a more therapeutically intensive program/ALE, such as Vista and that it was unlikely that school
based services would address the scope of her needs.™ She met with the Student again on October
23, 2008, “who was again camped out in principal’s/admin offices” and recorded that the Student

had ‘made no progress towards her ability/willingness to attend classes and appeared to remain

% Ibid, Page 303
% Ibid, Page 71

" Ibid, Page 299
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inappri)priate for the public middle school placement.” The justification for her being transferred
to an alternative learning environment was not because of particular problems according to
testimg_ny from the HS middle school principal, but because she refused to not go to class.” The
middleé school counselor testified that the Student did not present the District with behavior
problems.” None of the HSS District personnel presented any consistent efforts to encourage the
Student to attend class other than the individual efforts of the middle school counselor. The
counselor testified that éhe would “iry to encourage her, beg her, talk her into going, walk down
with her, get a friend, all of that.”™ Her opinion was simply that the Student was upset because she
‘was not being allowed to continue to attend the CCS Turning Points program.”

On October 16, 2008, the Student’s IEP team met to “discuss I;ro gramming and educational
placement” because since being enrolled back in the HSS District on September 30, 2008, she “has
refused to go to class and has been sitting in the counselor’s office.”’ The IEP team decided that
areferral to the HSS District’s ALE, Vista, would be made because they felt that “a smaller setting
would be a better educational placement for [her] at this time.”” Even though it was referred to as
a change in placement by the IEP team the HSS District director of special education denied that

to transfer the Student to their ALE program was a change in placement, only a change according

"' Ibid, Page 295

7 Transcript, Vol ITI, Page 153
™ Ibid, Page 159

" Ibid, Page 175

 Ibid, Page 180

" Parent Binder, Page 67
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to her was where the Student’s special education services would be provided.” According to the
witnesé the HSS District also considered the ALE setting as a “regular class” setting where the
Studen:t was to receive educational instruction along with same-aged peers in “FACS, science, art,
and A]R history.”™ The special education coordinator testified that the exact number of students
enrolled in their Vista ALE changes quite often, but that they average about twelve to one in the
regular education class setting and that for special education they maintain the same ratio of teacher
to student as they do on the main campus,® Even though the Student would be in a classroom with
fewer peers than she would be at the middle school campus her special education teacher atthe ALE
Vista testified that “we still have our basic regular classes, general education.”!

The Student’s new IEP for the Vista program was the same as the previous IEP with the
exception that the number of minutes for which she would be receiving special education services
in reading, math, and written expression would be reduced to 450 minutes per week. Her related
~ services called for group therapy twice weekly for a total of 60 minutes, with individual therapy
being reduced to once weekly for 30 minutes. The justification for reducing her specialized
instruction for her learning disability was stated as i)eing hecessary to accommodate her group and
individual therapy time.

In addition to recommending a change in placement for the Student to the HSS District’s

Vista ALE they were also making it necessary for her to change mental health professionals. The

™ Transcript, Vol I, Page 154
" Parent Binder, Page
* Transcript, Vol I, Page 160-161

* Ibid, Vol 11, Page 50
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HSS Dlstrlct contracted with a private agency called Therapeutic F amily Services (TFS) to provide

the mental health services in their Vista ALE, %2

home.  Her therapist noted that the Student “had a history of impulsivity, disruptive and
verbally/physmally aggressive tendencies with poor communication and social skills— wanting what

she wanis at all timeg ”® She further noted that she discussed these Issues with the Student’s

teacher. Although she had now been diagnosed with a_and an— |
W - addition to her -no indications of how this would be

addressed in her IEP was attempted. The Student’s [EP contained no behavior intervention plan, nor
was there any record that a functional analysis of her disruptive behavior was every completed by
the HSS District prior to or after transferring her to their Vista ALE, |

The Parents contended that the Student réceived a bruise as a result of the physical restraint
applied to her. The Student’s mother alleged that the TFS personnel threatened to put her daughter
away. She continued to have attendance issues at the Vista program having missed four days for

unexoused absences between her enrollment on Qctober 23, 2008, and the first of December 2008

# Parent Binder, Page 743
® Ibid, Page 757

* Ibid, Page 752
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, down what she thought, you know, I gave her the book and told her to look in the

book where the question — where the answer would be, and that’s how I worked

with her,”3

Although the HSS District has no control over parental decisions to home school children,
in this case they failed to adequately assess and provide the Student with an educational program
that would have allowed her to ét least had a minimal chance to succeed. The failure was most
pronounced in not addressing the Student’s behavioral and emotional needs which appear from the
record to have been intrinsically embedded in her -

- The failed attempts by her mental health providers are also evident in the record; however,

this due process procedure does not allow for adjudication of their actions.
School Year 2009-2010

In December 2008 the Student’s family had moved from the HSS District into a residence

in the FLS District. In July 2009 the Parents approached the special education coordinator for the

FLS District to discuss the procedures for enrolling the _ e
-who had assisted her mo’_cher with home-schooling, had already been attending the FLS
District and was apparently functioning well as a regular education student . The Parents approached
the special education coordinator rather than soﬁleone else within the FLS District because
accordjng to the Student’s mother she “ekplained to her that my children were in Excel, and that

when‘.x%_re move-ﬂlat ray children were taken out of Special Ed and they

were having problems, and no one would listen to me about their education.”® In actuality only

* Transcript, Vol II, Page 242

* Ibid, Vol IV, Page 148
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two.offher children were removed from special education services. The Student, as noted in the
record above remained entitled and did receive special education services from the HSS District.

: Her discussion with the special education coordinator also discussed the possible placement
of the Student, along with her brothers into the FL.S alternative learning environment, also called
Excel, and also operated by the same private agency which had previously expelled the Student
from tﬁeir program, sending her back to the public school. The special education coordinator
provided the Parents with advise on how té enroll the Student into the district and repérted that she
attempted to obtain the Stydent’s special education records from the HSS District. The Parents
completed enrollment forms with the F1,S District middle school on August 5, 2009 which clearly
noted that the Student had been a special education student.”

Following enrollment into the FLS District and without consideration of the Student’s
previous evaluations or her IEP from the HSS District, she was immediately referred by the FLS
District principal into the district’s ALE Excel program. Although the Department requires two
reasons for a referral to an alternative learning environment, the referral form si gned by the principal
included only one — “disﬁptive behavior.”! Having come from a non-accredited school and
having been recently “home schooled” by the Parents, the FLS District did not attempt to initiate
areferral conference or to assess the Student’s special education needs. In fact, the director of the
ALE, who is also the special edu;:ation instructor at the ALE, assumed that neither the Student, nor

her siblings were elj gible for special education services. She acknowledged in testimony that it was

not until the day of her testimony, eight months later, that she even knew the Student was eligible

* Parent Binder, Page 812

- *' Parent Binder, Page 782
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for spe&ci—al education services. F urt‘her, she testified that she had never seen the records presented
as evicience by the FLS District which reflected the Student’s previous eligibility and receipt of
serviceés.”

gEven though the Parents agreed that the FLS District’s ALE (Excel) would most likely be
the best option for the Student rather than a regular classroom at their middle school, no e‘vidence
was presented that indicated an attempt was made on the part of the FLS District to assess the
Student for special education services. Why this decision was made by the FLS District without
first obtaining all of the previous district’s (HSS District) special education information since the
Parents were concerned about a learning problem, and without determining if there was a need for
a possible referral conference once the Student was officially enrolled, was never testified to as
being necessary by any of the FL.$ District personnel, nor as noted above, by the special education
teacher assigned to the FLS District’s ALE.

The FLS District special education coordinator testified that she did make attempts to obtain
the special education documents from the HSS District as well as records from the CCS Turning
Points program. She testified that she notified the educational director of the FLS District ALE
(Excel) program to inform her of the Parent’s registering the Student in the FLS District and their
interest in the ALE program. She was aware, but apparently did not inform the ALE special
education teacher/director that the Student had been declared eligible for special education services‘
by the f{SS' District. Even with her awareness of the Student’s special education record she did
not consider arranging a referral conference once the Student was enrolled in the FLS District. The

only record reportedly received that was entered into evidence was a copy of the HSS District’s

* Transcript, Vol [V, Page 165-167



H-~10-10 (Final Decision and Order) Page 40

most-ré;ceht psychoeducational evaluation completed on September 15, 2006. Had the FL.S District
personnel reviewed the document, even without any additional special education records, they
would fhave seen that the evaluation made it clear that the Student had been deemed eligible for
special education due to a learning disability.*”

Once enrolled in the FLS District, as noted above, an appointment was arranged for the
Student to be referred directly to the FLS District’s ALE Program (Excel) by the middle school
principal, even though he testified that he did not personally complete the referral form, nor did he
recall even seeing the referral form, stating that it was his understanding that the Parents enrolled
the Student directly into their ALE and not into his building. Also as noted above only one reason
was Indicated as the reason for the referral rather than the Department’s requirement for at least two
reasons to be listed.

The ALE administrator/special education teacher, waé ﬁot present when the Student and
her Parents were brought to the ALE campus. She and the only other teacher in the program were
out of the state at the time. The intake was conducted on August 19, 2009, not by educators, but
by CCS personnel, a social worker and a licensed associate counselor, They apparently had access
to the previous CCS program records in that their progress notes reflected diagnoses of both ADHD
~ and oppositional defiant disorder.” They also, noted in their intake assessment that the referral
agency contact was the ALE educational administrator and that the reason for the referral to the
ALE Was’ because the Student had “poor academic performance, ADHD symptoms, truancy,

opposiiional and disruptive [behavior] at home and school, frequent cursing at peers and authority

* Parent Binder, Page 789-797

* Ibid, Page 291
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ﬁguresf,- physical aggression/fighting at home and school...[and that] school records report client
daily réfused to do her work and presented with a negative attitude when stafftried to assist her with
her v.wz?:rk.”95 They recorded her educational information as “special education” and “learning
disabilﬂy? struggles in all subjects; mother reported LD in math and reading. reported she will need
rnodifi:c;tion in all subjects...[and] last grade completed 6%, should be in the 8" " This record
reflects that the menial health workers assigned to the FL.S District ALE were or should have been
aware of the Student’s special education history as well as her oppositiopal defiant behavior and
attention problems. Such action and inaction is contrary to the ALE administrator/special
education teacher’s comment in testimony that she, the other teacher, and the mental health
providers worked as a team, which would assume the sharing of information regarding the mental
health and the special education needs of the Student.

The first day of class on August 24, 2009, the therapy note recorded by the assigned social
worker was that the Student “did excellent in group and during her first day...she presented quiet
at first but reported being excited to be around peers and staff...she engaged once encouraged by the
other girls.”” Two days later on August 26, 2009, her therapist noted that he observed her in the
computer classroom along with three other students where the Student “had difficulty understanding
instructions and frustrated easily..however, she took feedback well and was able to interact with the

teacher and peers respectfully and asked for help appropriately.”™ The next day, on August 27,

E Ibid, Page 283
% Ibid, Page 285
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2009, ahe same therapist noted that the Student said “that she liked the program and has only had
one problem she got mad at one of the teachers because she required [the Student] to wear
headphqnes Ona computer assignment...[the Student] said that she didn’t like to wear headphones
becaus;t: she can’t hear on them and she worries what people are saying around her and thinks that
they are talking about her oy laughing at her...[and that the Student] reminded [the] therapist that
she has a history of hearing/ear problems.”™® Four days later he recorded that he advised the Student
to “not involve her brother in her drama in the school and that she cease the drama altogether..[and
that she] is on the verge of being sent home for her distuptions.”'” He also recorded that on the
same day he discussed the Student’s issues with the ALE coordinator/special education teacher who
asked him “to isolate [the Student] for today and to make a plan to remediate [sic] in the future, !t

As noted above the ALE coordinator/special education teacher testified that she was not
present for the Student’s intake evaluation for educational purposes, and even if present did not
participate in any of the “menta] health intake process” even though she also testified that she, the
other teacher, and the mental health staff worked as a team.'” She further testified that the only
time the mental health staff shared mental health issues, such as a diagnosis, with her was when it
was affecting what wag going on with students in the clagsroom. Additionally, according to her
testimony, she was not aware that in the previous educational program that the Student attended

prior to returning to the HSS District was the CCS Turning Points (previously Excel), opetated by

* Ibid, Page 275
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the same agency from which her mental health team is employed. Nor was she aware that CCS had

diagnosed the Student with N At the same time she testified

that if such were true that it would be something she would need to know, because it most likely
would have a direct carry-over into behaviors in the classroom.
| Rather than making an effort to obtain previous testing results or looking at existing
evaluations as to the Student’s previous educational testing she testified that, as with all students
entering the ALE program, she administered a Test of Adult Basic Education (TABE) to determine
her level of academic achievernent; however, the test data was not enterea as part of the due process
record by the FLS. District, nor was a copy provided to the Parents, She testified that she
administers the TABE to all students re gardless if they are special education students or not because
it helps her determine, based on grade equivalents, the type of curriculum that she needs to use with
a student. |
By September 10, 2009, less than one month into the new year the Student’s therapist
recorded that her oppositional defiant behavior had transferred from provoking other students to
provoking the faculty. He stated that the Student’s refusal, disruption and lack of focus was her
major problem which was keeping her from beiné successful in the class; however, the mental
health providers not being educators made no effort to attempt to explain the possibility that there
mightbe a relationship between the Student’s acting out behaviors and her learning disabilities. On
September 15, 2009, he reported that she pushed another student out of his seat on the school bus
that-mérning. The next day he observed the Student being quiet in the group and only interacting
with one other studént, being observed also as laughing when jokes were told. Needless to say she

exhibited difficult behaviors for the mental health providers to contend with during the first month
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of the :s,chool year. '
| The ALE program started the last week of August 2009 and the ALE educational
adminifstrator made a note' on the Student’s referral form that she was dropped from FLS District
on September 24, 2009 to be home-schooled by her Parénts. ' In those nineteen days of school she
stated that she did not see any evidence of an attention deficit disorder, recalling only that the
Student sought the attention of faculty and staff by exhibiting dramatically disruptive behaviors.
She stated on cross examination that she modified the Students curriculum “using lower level things
that were easier reading for her..not necessarily because she couldn’t do the reading, because she
chose not to....the math, I used a series that is geared towards special ed kids, it’s called keys to
curriculum...and it’s an algebra, geometry, math, things that are more simplified, smaller amounts
that are easier for kids to digest.”™ Such is further evidence that she was totally unaware of the
Student’s previous eligibility for special education with specific learning disabilities in numerical
operations by the HSS District and in reading and written expression by her previous school district
— Needless to say the intake assessment for a need to be educated in the FLS District’s
ALE was l;:ss than adequate to make an appropriate judgement of educational services that the
Student would need in order to succeed.
In spite of the fact that the Student’s mother testified that she and her husband both had
learning difficulties and could not provide the Student with the necessary educational instruction,
they once again elected to withdraw the Student, this time from the FLS District's ALE program,

and to eduecate her themselves in their home. This time, however, they sought out legal council and
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subseq;uently submitted a request for a due process hearing,

Between the time the Parents contacted the FLS District in July 2009 and when the Parents
decided to withdraw her from the public agency to be home-schooled the FLS District did have the
opportunity to obtain all of the Student’s educational and therapy records, to conduct a referral
conference at the Parent’s request, and develop a temporary IEP in order to allow them time to
further investigate the Parent’s concerns about the Student’s learning and behavior problems.

Conclusions of Law and Discussion

Part B of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) requires states to provide
a free, appropriate public education (FAPE) for all children with disabilities between the ages of 3
and 21.'” The IDEA establishes that the term “child with a disability” means a child with mental
retardation, hearing impairments (including deafness), speech or language impairments, visual
impairments (including blindness), serious emotional disturbance, orthopedic impairments, autism,
traumatic brain injury, other health impairments, or specific learning disabilities, and who by reason
of their disai)ility, need special education and related services. '

The Department has addressed the responsibilities of each local education agency with
regard to addressing the needs of all children with disabilities in it’s regulations at Section 5.00 of
Special Education and Related Services: Procedural Requirements and Program Standards,
Arkansas Department of Education, 2008,

In 1982, the Supreme Court was asked and in so doing provided courts and hearing officers

with their interpretation of Congress' intent and meaning in using the term "free appropriate public

% 20US.C.§ 1412(a) and 34 C.F.R. § 300.300(a)

% 20 U.S.C. § 1401(3)(A)
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edueation." The Supreme Court noted that the following twofold analysis must be made by a court
or heafing officer:

(1). Whether the State (or local educational agency) has complied with the

procedures set forth in the Act (IDEA)? and

(2). Whether the individualized educational program developed through the Act's

procedures is reasonably calculated to enable the student to receive educational

benefits?'"

The courts consistently agree that FAPE must be based on the child’s unique needs and not
on the child’s disability.'” Thus the charge to education professionals is to concentrate on the
unique needs of the child rather than a specific disability. It is necessary, therefore to look at the
facts in this case as to whether or not the HSS District and subsequently the FLS District
concentrated on the unique needs of the Student and not specifically at her disabilities as identified
by her Parents, her counselors, her case managers, her physicians, or other healthcare professionals.

In more specifically defining what is meant by FAPE the Supreme Court, in Board of
Education of the Hendrick Hudson Central School District v, Rowley, held that an educational
agency has provided FAPE when it has provided personalized instruction with sufficient support
services to permit the student to beneﬁt educationally from that instruction. The Court noted that
instruction and services are considered "adequate” if:

(1). They are provided at public expense and under public supervision and without charge;

(2). They meet the State's educational standards;

""" Board of Education of the Hendrick Hudson Central School District v, Rowley, 458 U.S.
176, 206207 (1982)

18 34 CF.R. § 300.300(a)(3)
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“(3). They approximate the grade levels used in the State's regular education; and

(4). They comport with the student's [EP,1°

The definition of children covered under IDEA is doubly circular. A child with disabilities
must be so disabled as to require special education and related services. Special education and
related services as noted above are those that meet the untique needs of a child with disabilities.
Moreéver, related services are those tha assist a child fo benefit from special education, which
can only be received by a child with disabilities.""® Such related services might include speech-
language pathology and audiology services, interpreting services, psychological services, physical
and occupational therapy, recreation, including therapeutic recreation, counseling services, including
rehabilitation counseling, orientation and mobility services, and medical services for diagnostic or
evaluation purposes. Related services may also include schoo] health services and school nurse
services, social work services in schools, and parent counseling and training.'"!

As noted above FAPE is deﬁﬂed as special education and related services that are provided
at public expense, under public supervision and direction, and without charge, which meet the
standards set forth by the Department. Consequently, a hearing officer must look at the issue
to determine whether or not 5 district has been compliant with that definition and whether or not
any single v101at10n or the accumulation of violations are severe enough to constitute a denial of
FAPE, The educational document that must contain how a district will be in compliance with those

standards and the document that defines what specifically designed instructions are to be

% Board of Echucation of the Hendrick Hudson Central School District v, Rowley, 458 U S, 17 6,
206-207 (1982)

"0 20 US.C. § 14000
" 34 CFR. §300.34(a)
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implerﬁented to meet the unique needs of a student is the Indtvidual Education Plan (iEP). The
Supreme Court as noted in the Rowley case opined that an IEP must be considered appropriate if
it is “reasonably calculated to enable the child to achieve passing marks and advance from grade to
g1r.eu:ic.’r"12 In an administrative due process hearing, the petitioner has the burden of proving the
essential elements of its clajm, ' The Parents in the instant case bore such burder.

‘The first issue of compliance for the HSS District is whether or not they met the
Department’s standards with regard to providing FAPE for the Student when she entered their
district for school year 2006-07."* The Department in adopting the IDEA standards has outlined
the responsibilities for a district to follow when a special education student enters their district with
an IBP from another district or state. That standard reads that:

“if a child with a disability (who had an IEP that was in effect in a previous public
. agency in another State) transfers to a public agency in a new State, and enrolls in

a new school within the same schooi year, the new public agency (in consultation

with the parents) must provide the child with FAPE (including services

_comparable to those deseribed in the child’s IEP from the previous public

agency, until the new public égency) -

A. Conducts an evaluation pursuant to 34 CFR 300-304 through 300-306 (f

determined to be necessary by the new public agency); and -

12 Board of Education of the Hendrick Hudson Central School District v, Rowley, 458 U 8. 176,
206-207 (1982) :

B Schaffer v, Weast (2005) 546 U.S. 49 [126 8.Ct. 528, 163 L.Ed 2d 387]
' The reader is referred to the argument by the HSS District and the Hearing Officer’s

response to the challenge and motion to dismiss that the 2006-07 school year went beyond the
statute of limitations for redress.
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‘B. Develops, adopts, and implements a new IEP, if appropriate, that meets the
| .applicable requirements in 34 CFR 300-320 through 300-324.7115

' In this case the Student’s IEP developed by her previous school outlined her special
education needs to assist her with specific learning disabilities in reading, math, and written
expreséion. They anticipated that when she returned to their district for school year 2006-07 that
she would need far more time in receipt of specialized instruction than what the HSS District
provided for her in their temporary IEP. Thus the evidence and testimony presented in the course
ofthe hearing réﬂects that the HSS District failed to follow the standards of the Dc;partment by not
implementing and providing the Student witha comparable IEP. The temporary [EP did not address
any health or behavior issues brought to their attention by the Parents, which were also addressed
in her pr,évious IEP. At the same time, for school year 2006-07, it was not shown that the HSS
District did not make a concerted effort based on the limited evaluation process conducted by their
examiner to offer the Student with at least 2 minimal opportunity to succeed. Had that evaluétion
been more comprehensive the outcome of the Student’s subsequent school years might have been |
different for everyone,

From the testimony elicited in the course of ﬁe hearing in general it became clear that
neither the HSS District personnel, nor subsequently the F1.S District personnel, had a good handle
on the specific and unique educational needs of the Student. The issues she presented to both
schdélédis_tricts was obviously clouded by the perceptions and difficulties presented to them by the

Parents who were quite concerned with how the Student was being treated by all individuals

" Special Education and Related Services: Procedural Requirements and Program
Standards, Arkansas Department of Education, 2008, Section 8.03.4.1
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involved in her education and menta) health therapies. The HSS District did evaluate and consider
her previous school ’s assessment of the possibility of there existing a specific learning disability and
concluded that she indeed did demonstrate a specific learning disability in numerical operations;
however, the data from which their conclusions were drawn are highly questionable as to being
relevant to the current academic achievement level of the Student. The HSS District never
considered even a year later 1o assess the Student for a serious emotional disorder or an éttention
deficit disorder as was diagnosed by her mental health care providers while attending school within
the HS‘.S District.

The HSS District, and subsequently the FLS District, relied only on the behavioral
assessments and opinions provided by the Parents, rather than gathering additional data from the
other professionals working with the Student and the family. They elected to base thejr decisions
on this limited information rather than formerly and judicially making their own assessment by their
own professionals to determine the possible existence of any other disability category which might
help explain the Student’s difficulties that she had been experiencing in their education environment
and develop a more appropriate [EP.

Although the school year 2006-07 may have been outside the statute of limitations for which
the Parents could seck redress, the decisions reached by the HSS District, and subsequently by the
FLS District, made at that time led to the decisions by both the districts and the Parents with regard
to opti'?_rxs;‘ for educating the Student.

: Tﬁe evaluation conducted by the HSS District did show that the Student was eligible under
the Department’s standards for students to receive special education in that the data supported the

existence of a specific learning disability. The HSS District did attempt to address not only the
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identifted disability, but also the other disabilities as recorded by the previous district. Thus it can
be effectively argued that the HSS District provided at least a base of instruction from which the
Student could have achieved some success in her academic endeavors. The HSS District did not
however take into consideration any other issues such as health impairments which might also have
contributed to her learning difficulties.

Since the Student was not adapting well to the regular classroom setting she was referred to
a non-accredited school operated by an organization who advertised themselves as being a non-
traditional school for students who had difficulty adapting to a regular school environment. At the
same time the HSS District had available for the Student their own ALE which was accredited and
offered the same therapeutic environment, and to which one year later she was referred. Had the
HSS District’s alternative learning environment been made available the previous year it may have
allowed her access to more one-on-one instruction as well as counseling for her and her Parents.

By assisting and possibly encouraging a transfer to a non-accredited program was not in an
of itself a violation of FAPE according to the federal and state guidelines; however, the failure to
make sure the Parents and the Student were fully informed about the potential consequences of their
choice appears in tﬁe record and testimony as a failure in ethics for which there is no redress under
the IDEA.

Subsequent testing by the private agency to which the Student was transferred for
educational and psychological services indicated the possibility of the existence of not only a
serious emotional disorders (oppositional defiant disorder and major depressive disorder), but also
with a diagnosis of an attention deficit disorder as defined by the mental health diagnostic manual
(DSM-1V).

The Office of Special Education has responded to numerous inquiries regarding the use of
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the DSM-IV as a means of addressing eligibility for services under IDEA. Their response has been
consistent in that a diagnosis under DSM-1V, as provided in this case by the physician of the private
agency to which the Student was assigned for home-schooling, does not guarantee eligibility under
the IDEA."®  These diagnoses were not available at the time the Student first entered the HSS
District; but were available when she re-enrolled and also when she enrolied into the FL.S District,
The HSS District’s decision to not fully inform the Student and Parents of the consequences
of removing the Student from their district, and for her to be “home-schooled” by a private agency,
and later by the Parents themselves, was not in and of itself a violation of IDEA. However, the
failure to implement the existing IEP in 2006-07 and to provide a comprehensive evaluation to
include formal classroom assessments of the Student’*s behavior and to assess for the possibility
of either an attention deficit disorder or aserious emotional disorder, was a failure to provide FAPE,
not only for the school year in which she entered the HSS District, but subsequent years when she
returned to the HSS District. The FLS District even more blatantly disregarded the due process
accorded students with disabilities when she entered their district. This action was even more
surprising given that the alternative learning environment to which she was transferred was directed
by someone with special education training.
The Rowley case, as noted above, addressed the level of instruction and serviceé that must
be provided to a student with disabilities to satisfy the requirement of the IDEA. In that case the
- Court determined that a student's [EP be reasonably calculated to provide him or her with some
educational benefit; however, the Court also stated that the IDEA does not require school districts

to provide special education students with the best education available or to provide instruction or

"8 Letter to Coe, Office of Special Education Programs, 32 IDELR 204, September 13,
1999
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services to maximize a student's abilities.'” The Court stated that school districts are required to
provide only a "basic floor of opportunity" that consists of access to specialized instructional and
related services which are individually designed to provide educational benefit to the student.''®
The evidence presented in this case adequately demonstrated that the Student was denied both
specialized instruction in a setting consistent with the previous school for addressing her disabilities
when she entered the HSS District. Even the program to which she was transferred did not
adequately address the behavior issues for which she was transferred. They did however, according
to their own records, provide her with an opportunity to achieve academically. This assumption is
being made solely on the grades she was given by this non-accredited educational program rather
than any comparative achievement testing.

‘The Supteme Court in the Rowley case recognized the importance of adherence to the
procedural requirements of the IDEA.'” The analysis of whether a student has been provided a
FAPE, as noted above, is twofold. In this case it must be decided as to whether the procedural
safeguards of the IDEA have been satisfied and whether the FAPE offered was substantively
appropriate. According to the evidence presented and the testimony given the Student had a need
for not only specialized instruction for specific learning disabilities, but for her and her parents to
have qualified psychological services in order for her to receive a basic floor of opportunity to
succeed. It cannot be said by the evidence presented that either of the alternative leaming

environments to which she was assigned for mental health services were successful in addressing

" Board of Educ. of the Hendrick Hudson Central Sch. Dist. v. Rowley, 458 U8, 176,
200, 102 S.C. 3034 (1982), at 198 - 200.

% Tbid at 201.

" Ibid at 205
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her psychological and behavioral needs.

Contrary to the assessment results and opinions of the HSS District, the evidence presented
regarding her educational needs were not adequaiely evaluated and thus inconsistent with the
development of an appropriate IEP. Therefore, the evidence shows that not only was a there a
denial of FAPE by the HSS District for the year she became their educational responsibility, but the
two subsequent years she lived within the district.

For the FLS District to have accepted only the evaluation provided them by the HSS District
in deciding, without interview or further assessment by education professionals, prior to the Student
being transferred to their ALE is also a reflection of dereliction of responsibility in not considering
the unique needs of the Student in determining the best course of action to take with regard to
providing her an appropriate educational opportunity, thus a denial of F APE according to the IDEA,

Order

The Pafents have introduced sufficient evidence in the record to reflect that the decisions
made by both the HSS District and the FLS District on being approached with the challenge to meet
the educational needs of the Student contributed to the production of there being an adverse affect
on her educational progress. Those decisions do not appear to have been intentional or malicious,
but rather thg accumulatively basis of first impression — that being that the Student’s failure to
succeed in the regular education environment and subsequently in two different alternative learning
environments, was more related to her stubbornness, her dramatic needs for attention, and her
famili:as support and promotion of her defiant behaviors. Both districts have acquiesced in
responding to the demands of the Student’s extremely concerned, overly zealous parents with

limited skills themselves. The immediate and subsequent failures to address and appropriately
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assess all of the Student’s needs on entering the HSS District, and then the FL.S District, proved to
be decisions which contributed to the Student’s failure to receive FAPE. Unfortunately these
decision were made not only by the two districts, but also by the private agencies involved in this
saga, as well the decisions made by her parents under their guidance.

In order to compensate the Student with what has not been provided as an appropriate
educati'on it is hereby ordered that:

1. The financial and administrative resources of both the HSS District and the FLS District
will be equally utilized to provide the Student with a comprehensive evaluation which will include
an assessment of any emotional disorders, attention problems, as well as any learning deficits as
defined by the Department which may allow her to benefit from special education services.

2. The comprehensive evaluation as ordered in (1) above will be conducted by examiners
that the Parents, in coordination with their council, agree are appropriate to conduct the
examinations, which can be those typically contracted with by the districts or independent
evaluators.

3. The comprehensive evaluation as ordered in (1) above will be completed no later than
August 1, 2010.

4. Upon completion of the evaluation as ordered in (1) above and no later than August 15,
2010 both the HSS District and the FLS District special education coordinators will assemble an |
appropriate [EP team, to include the examiners contributing to the evaluation, to consider the
results of the evaluation and to develop an IEP if indicated by the results of the evaluation.

3. Between the date of this order and the completion of iterﬁ (4) above, the HSS District and
the FLS District will jointly provide the Student with opportunities and number of hours as deemed

agreeable to by the Parents for compensatory educational opportunities consistent with the known
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levels of educational functioning. The specific educational opportunities are not being ordered;
however, the amount of time 10 be offered W111 be no less than four (4) hours per week until item
(4) above is completed.

Finality of Order and Right to Appeal

The decision of this Hearing Officer is final and shall be implemented unless a party
aggrieved by it shall file a civil action in either federal district court or a state court of competent
Jurlsdlctlon pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act within ninety (90) days after
the date on which the Hearing Officer’s Decision is filed with the Arkansas Department of
Education.

Pursuant to Section 10.01.36, 5, Special Education and Related Services: Procedural
Requzrements and Program Standards, Arkansas Department of Education 2008, the Hearing

Officer has no further jurisdiction over the parties to the hearing.

- Robert B. Doyle, Ph.D.
Hearing Officer

It is so ordered.

June 21,2010
Date




